
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

Before the 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE P�9-CEEDING 

File No. � j(/;f'() 

In the Matter of 

Kelly Black-White, 

Respondent . 

DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT'S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF 

IMPOSITION OF SANCTIONS 

Dated: March 2, 2015 Respectfully submitted, 

/Is!! Martin F. Healey 
Martin F. Healey  
Securities and Exchange Commission 
33 Arch Street, 23rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02025 

COUNSEL FOR 
DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Introduction .................................................................................................................................... ! 

Discussion ....................................................................................................................................... 2 

A. Ms. Black-White Violated Section lO(b) of the Exchange Act 

and Rule lOb-S(a), Thereunder ........................................................................... .2 

1. Elements of the Alleged Offenses ............................................................. .2 

2. The Allegations of the OIP Establish Ms. Black-White's 

Violations .................................................................................................... 3 
3. Ms. Black-White's Change of Plea in the Criminal Case 

Establishes Her Violations. 

B. Sanctions ................................................................................................................. 9 

1. A Cease-and-Desist Order Should Be Issued 

as to Ms. Black-White ....... ......................................................................... 9 
2. A Permanent Penny Stock Bar Should be Imposed 

as to Ms. Black-White .............................................................................. 1 0 

3. A Permanent Officer and Director Bar Should be Imposed 

as to Ms. Black-White .............................................................................. 13 

Conclusion .............. .......................... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ..................................... . . . . .... ............................. l5 



TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 

Aaron v. SEC, 446 U.S. 680(1980) . ....................................................................... 3 

Clawson v. SEC, 2005 WL 2174637 (9th Cir. Sept. 8, 2005) .......................................... .12 

Dolphin & Bradbury, Inc. v. SEC, 512 F.3d 634 (D.C. Cir. 2007) ..................................... 3 

Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185 (1976) ........................................................ 3 

In the Matter of Maria T. Giesige, SEC Release No. ID-359, 2008 WL 4489677 .................. 10 

In the Matter of Peter Siris, Admin. Proceeding File No. 3-15057 ................................... .12 

In the Matter of Robert Pribilski, Admin. Proceeding File 3-14875 .................................. 13 

In the Matter ofStanley Brooks, et al. , Admin. Proceeding File No. 3-14983 .................. .12, 13 

In the Matter of Vladimir Bugarski et al. , Admin. Proceeding File No. 3-14496 ................... 12 

KPMG Peat Marwick, LLP v. SEC, Exchange Act Release No. 43862, 2001 SEC LEXIS 98, 

(Jan. 19, 2001), pet. denied, 289 F.3d 109 (D.C. Cir. 2002) ......................................... 9. 10 

SEC v. Bankosky, 716 F.3d 45, 48 (2d Cir. 201 14 

SEC v. Blackout Media C01p., 2012 WL 4051951 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 14, 2012) ........................ 12 

SEC v. Blatt, 583 F. 2d 1325 (5th Cir. 1978) ................................................................ .12 

SEC v. Boock, 2012 WL 3133638 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 2, 2012) ..................... ...................... .12 

SEC v. Collins & Aikman Corp. , 524 F.Supp.2d 477 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) .................................. .2 

SECv. First Pacific Bancorp, 142 F.3d 1186 (9th Cir. 1998) ............................................ 12 

SEC v. Hasho, 784 F.Supp. 1059 (S.D.N.Y. 1992) ...................................................... .3 

SEC v. Indigenous Global Development Corp., 2008 WL 8853722 (N.D. Cal. June 30, 2008) .. .12 

SEC v. Infinity Group Company, 212 F.3d 180 (3d Cir. 2000) .......................................... 3 

SEC v. Kearns, 691 F.Supp.2d 601 (D.N.J. 201 0) ............................................................ .2 

SEC v. Lucent Technologies, Inc. , 610 F.Supp.2d 342 (D.N.J. 2009) ................................... .2 

Steadman v. SEC, 603 F.2d 1126 (5th Cir. 1979) .............................................. .12, 13, 14 

VanCookv. SEC, 653 F.3d 130 (2d Cir. 2011) ................................................................................ 3 

WHX Corp. v. SEC, 362 F.3d 854 (D.C. Cir. 2004) ......................................................... 9 



Section 3(a)(51) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(51) ......................................... 11 

Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) ................................... passim 

Section 21C of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3 ............................................ 1, 2, 9, 14, 

Exchange Act Rule 3a51-1, 17 C.F.R. 240.3a51-1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ..... 11 

Exchange Act Rule 10b-5(a), 17 C.F.R. 240.10b-5 ................................................ passim 

Exchange Act Rule 600(b )( 4 7), 17 CFR 242.600(b )( 4 7) ............................................... 11 



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

Before the 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 

File No. 3-16153 

In the Matter of 

Kelly Black-White, 

Respondent. 

DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT'S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF 

IMPOSITION OF SANCTIONS 

Introduction 

On September 22, 2014, the Commission issued an Order Instituting Proceedings 

("OIP") as to Kelly Black-White. The Division of Enforcement ("Division") submits this brief 

in support of its motion for imposition of sanctions as to Ms. Black-White as to allegations in 

the OIP that she violated Section IO(b) of the Securities Exchange Act ("Exchange Act"), 15 

U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5(a), thereunder, 17 C.F.R. 240.10b-5. As relief, the Division 

seeks a) an Order pursuant to Section 21C of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3, that Ms. 

Black-White cease-and-desist from committing or causing violations of and any future 

violations of Section IO(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 1 Ob-5, thereunder, b) an Order 

pursuant to Section 15(b)(6) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 780(b)(6), barring Ms. Black-

White from participating in any offering of a penny stock, including: acting as a promoter, 

finder, consultant, agent or other person who engages in activities with a broker, dealer or 

issuer for purposes of the issuance or trading in any penny stock, or inducing or attempting to 
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induce the purchase or sale of any penny stock, and c) an Order pursuant to Section 21 C(f) of 

the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(f), barring Ms. Black-White from serving as an officer 

and director of a public company. 

The Division and Ms. Black-White have agreed on an approach for resolving this matter. 

The parties have agreed that the primary issue in the case is that of sanctions. Ms. Black-

White will stipulate that she is liable for the violations alleged in the Order Instituting 

Proceedings (OIP) and the issue of sanctions is being presented, and briefed, to the Court. In 

addition to the OIP, attached here as Exhibit 1, the Division also submits a copy of the 

transcript of Ms. Black-White's change of plea ("COP") in a parallel criminal case (Exhibit 2). 

Discussion 

A .  Ms . Black-White Violated Section 1 O(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 1 Ob-

5(a), Thereunder 

1. Elements of the Alleged Offenses 

The OIP alleges violations of the federal securities laws as to Ms. Black-White for her 

actions pursuant to the theory of "scheme liability" created by Section 1 O(b) of the Exchange Act 

and Rule 10b-5(a) thereunder. Exchange Act Rule 10b-5(a) states that it is unlawful for any 

person "[t]o employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud" in connection with the purchase 

or sale of a security. To establish scheme liability, courts generally require that the defendant 

commit a deceptive or fraudulent act or orchestrate a fraudulent scheme. See, e.g., SEC v. Collins 

& Aikman Corp., 524 F.Supp.2d 477,485-86 (S.D.N.Y. 2007); see also, SEC v. Kearns, 691 

F.Supp.2d 601,618 (D.N.J. 2010) (recognizing a claim for scheme liability where SEC alleged 

"(1) that the defendant committed a deceptive or manipulative act, (2) in furtherance of the 

alleged scheme to defraud, (3) with scienter,") (quoting SEC v. Lucent Technologies, Inc. , 610 

F.Supp.2d 342 at 350 (D.N.J. 2009)); see also VanCook v. SEC, 653 F.3d 130, 138 (2d Cir. 
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2011) (elements of a violation of Section 1 O(b) are ( 1) employing a device, scheme or artifice to 

defraud, (2) with scienter, (3) in connection with the purchase or sale of securities, ( 4) by 

jurisdictional means). 

To demonstrate violations of the antifraud provisions of the federal securities laws, 

including Rule 10b-5(a) of the Exchange Act, the Commission must show that a party acted with 

scienter. Aaron v. SEC, 446 U.S. 680, 691 (1980). See also SEC v. Hasho, 784 F.Supp. 1059, 

1106 (S.D.N.Y. 1992). Scienter is a mental state embracing intent to deceive, manipulate or 

defraud. Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 193 (1976). Circuit courts have concluded 

that scienter may also be established by a showing that a defendant acted with recklessness or 

sometimes "extreme recklessness," both of which are characterized by an "extreme departure 

from the standards of ordinary care." See, e. g., SEC v. Infinity Group Company, 212 F .3d 180, 

192 (3d Cir. 2000) (requiring showing of conscious misbehavior or recklessness); Dolphin & 

Bradbury, Inc. v. SEC, 512 F.3d 634, 639 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (showing of extreme recklessness can 

satisfy scienter requirement). 

2. The Allegations of the OIP Establish Ms. Black-White's Violations 

As discussed above, the Division and Ms. Black-White have agreed on an approach for 

resolving this matter in Ms. Black-White stipulates that she is liable for the violations alleged in 

the Order Instituting Proceedings (OIP) and the issue of sanctions is presented, and briefed, to 

the Court. A summary of the allegations from the OIP follows. 

During the relevant time frame, Ms. Black-White was president of Premier Funding 

Services, Inc. and Premier Media Services, Inc., which purported to provide investor and public 

relations services to small cap market companies. OIP � A(J). Four companies, all of which 

traded as penny stocks and with which Ms. Black-White participated in offerings of stock were 
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1st Global Financial Corp. ("1st Global"), ComCam International, Inc. ("ComCam"), 

Microholdings US, Inc. ("Microholdings"), and Symbollon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 

("Symbollon"). She also was a member of Symbollon's Board of Directors. OIP � A(J). On 

September 12, 2013, Ms. Black-White pleaded guilty to one count of conspiracy to commit 

securities fraud and eleven counts of wire fraud in a parallel criminal case, United States v. 

Kelly Black-White, et al. , 11-CR-10416-DJC. OIP �A (I). On February 10, 2014, Ms. Black

White was sentenced in the criminal case to 12 months and one day of imprisonment to be 

followed by two years' supervised release. She also was ordered to pay a fine of $7,500 and to 

forfeit $6,050. OIP �A (I). 

The enforcement action here against Ms. Black-White closely tracks the criminal 

charges for which she was convicted. Both the criminal and civil charges arise out of a 

fraudulent scheme in which insiders of publicly-traded penny stock companies paid secret 

kickbacks to a purported corrupt hedge fund manager, who was in fact an undercover agent with 

the FBI ("Fund Manager"). In exchange for the kickbacks the Fund Manager purchased 

restricted stock of the penny stock companies on behalf of his purported hedge fund ("the 

Fund"), which did not actually exist. OIP � C.l. 

At some time prior to June 13,2011, Ms. Black-White was told that the Fund Manager 

was willing to invest Fund money in the stock of companies in exchange for a fifty percent 

kickback that would go to the Fund Manager. On or about June 13,2011, Ms. Black-White met 

with the Fund Manager, who offered to pay her a fee for introducing him to executives of 

publicly traded companies who would agree to pay a kickback to the Fund Manager in exchange 

for investing the Fund's money in their companies. This would enable the Fund Manager to 
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keep for himself half of the money he was supposedly investing on behalf of the Fund. OIP � 

Cl.{b) and (c) . 

In particular, Ms. Black-White was told that the Fund Manager was prepared to invest 

up to $5 million of the Fund's money in various publicly traded companies, provided those 

companies secretly kicked back fifty percent of those funds- $2,500,000 -to the Fund 

Manager. She was informed that the Fund was not to be informed of the kickbacks. Ms. Black

White was told that if the Fund purchased $5 million of stock all at once, the transaction might 

attract attention at the Fund. In order to avoid detection, therefore, the Fund Manager said that 

he would invest the Fund's money gradually, in tranches, or installments, that would increase in 

size over time. OJP � C. I. (d) and (e) . 

As a further means of concealing the nature of the transactions, the Fund Manager told 

Ms. Black-White that the kickback payments would be made to one or more nominee consulting 

companies that the Fund Manager purportedly controlled and about which the Fund did not 

know. The Fund Manager also told her that invoices would be issued by one of the Fund 

Manager's nominee companies in order to disguise the kickbacks. Ms. Black-White reached an 

agreement with the Fund Manager whereby he would pay her approximately ten percent of the 

kickbacks paid by any company executive whom she introduced to the Fund Manager. Prior to 

the June 13 meeting, Ms. Black-White had referred executives from at least two publicly traded 

companies, Symbollon and MicroHoldings, to the Fund Manager. After the June 13 meeting, 

Ms. Black-White referred individuals from 1st Global, ComCam, and two other companies to the 

Fund Manager. OIP � C. I. (f), (g), (h), and (i). 

Each of the executives whom Ms. Black-White referred to the Fund Manager agreed to, 

and did, pay a kickback to the Fund Manager in exchange for the Fund Manager causing the 
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Fund to invest in their respective companies' stock. In connection with the investments, each of 

the executives also caused stock certificates to be issued representing the purchase by the Fund 

of sha:res in their respective companies. The investments in the companies that Ms. Black-White 

referred to the Fund Manager were made by wire transfers from a bank account maintained in 

Massachusetts. The kickback payments from the various companies Ms. Black-White referred to 

the Fund Manager were made by wire transfers from the various companies to a Citizens Bank 

account held in the name of one of the Fund Manager's nominee companies in Massachusetts. 

OJP � C.J. (j) and (k). 

Based on her agreement with the Fund Manager, on various dates between June 22, 2011 

and July 5, 2011, Ms. Black-White received a portion of the kickbacks paid by company 

executives she had referred to the Fund Manager. Her shares of the kickbacks, which totaled 

$6,050, were paid by wire transfer from a Citizens Bank account held by one of the Fund 

Manager's nominee companies in Massachusetts to JP Morgan Chase account number 

************6930, a bank account held by Premier Funding & Financial Marketing, LLC and 

controlled by Ms. Black-White. OJP � C.1. (!). 

3. Ms. Black-White's Change of Plea in the Criminal Case Establishes Her 

Violations 

At a change of plea hearing before United States District Judge Casper on September 12, 

2013, Ms. Black-White entered a plea of guilty to one count of conspiracy to commit securities 

fraud and eleven counts of wire fraud. 0 IP � A.1. At the change of plea hearing the Assistant 

U.S. Attorney ("AUSA") representing the United States was asked by the Court to state the 

factual basis for Ms. Black-White's plea of guilty. COP, p. 18, ln. 25-p. 19, ln. 2. The AUSA 

recited the factual basis for Ms. Black-White's change of plea as follows: 

If this case were to go to trial, the government would 
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establish the following facts beyond a reasonable doubt: Kelly 
Black-White was in the business of assisting publicly traded 
companies and finding sources of funding, as well as promoting 
penny stocks. She also served on the board of directors of 
Symbollon Pharmaceuticals, a public company in the business of 
developing and marketing pharmaceuticals. 

The evidence would show that in or about March 2011, 
Ms. Black-White learned of a potential funding opportunity for 
public companies involving an individual who purported to be a 
representative of a major investment fund. Unbeknownst to 
Ms. Black-White, the fund representative was, in fact, an 
undercover FBI agent, and the fund itself did not exist. 

Ms. Black-White subsequently learned that the fund 
representative was willing to invest fund money in companies in 
exchange for those companies each sending 50 percent of the 
money back to the fund representative, and learned that the 
fund was unaware of the money kicking back to the fund 
representative. 

On June 13, 2011, Ms. Black-White met with the fund 
representative herself and the fund representative again 
explained the scheme. She agreed with the fund representative 
that she would refer executives of publicly traded companies 
who would be willing to send money back to the fund 
representative in exchange for funding by his investment fund. 

Ms. Black-White and the fund representative also 
agreed that she would receive a portion of the money sent back 
to him for her referrals. 

The evidence would show that Ms. Black-White was 
informed of various measures that would be taken to conceal the 
scheme, for instance, because of an investment of the entire $5 
million at once might attract unwanted attention from the fund, 
Ms. Black-White was told that the funding of the companies 
would take place incrementally in increasing tranches of 
funding. 

Ms. Black-White was also told and understood that as a 
further means of concealing the scheme, the payments back to 
the fund representative would not be paid to the fund 
representative directly but rather would be paid to sham 
nominee consulting companies that the representative 
purportedly controlled. 
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The evidence would show that in May and in June 
Ms. Black-White introduced at least four executives to the fund 
representative, including an executive with Symbollon, an 
executive with the company known as MicroHoldings, Albert Reda, 
an executive of a company known as 1st Global Financial, and 
executives of a company known as Com Cam so that each of them 
could enter the funding arrangement and the scheme as 
described. 

As a result of these meetings, these individuals 
agreed to participate on behalf of their companies in the 
scheme. These individuals received payments purportedly made 
from the fictitious fund and, as discussed, then made payments 
back to the sham consulting companies that the representative 
purportedly controlled. 

In each case, these kicked-back payments amounted to 
50 percent of the money that the fund had paid to the 
compan1es. 

Specifically, as set forth in Counts Two through 
Eight, Eleven and Thirteen of the superseding indictment, 
Ms. Black-White caused a series of wires constituting such 
payments to and from the companies. The dates, the amounts, 
and the bank accounts involved in each of these wires are set 
forth in the superseding indictment. 

. .. as a result of her introduction of these executives, 
Ms. Black-White received a portion of the kickbacks that 
were given to the fund representative. 
These kickbacks were sent or the money from 
these kickbacks were sent to Ms. Black-White by interstate wire 
transfer from a bank account purportedly belonging to one of 
the fund representative's sham consulting companies. 

Specifically as set forth in Counts Nine and Ten of 
the superseding indictment, Ms. Black-White caused wires 
constituting such payments to be sent to an account in the name 
of Premier Funding and Financial Consulting, which was an 
account that she controlled. 

COP, p. 19, ln. 8-p. 22, ln. 15. 
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After the AUSA's recitation, Judge Casper inquired of Ms. Black-White whether "having 

heard a summary of what the government intended to prove and offer at trial, do you agree to the 

factual summary as it bears on the essential elements of the charges?" COP, p. 23, lns. 4-7. 

Ms. Black-White replied with a single word, "Yes." COP, p. 23, ln. 8. 

B. Sanctions 

1. A Cease-and-Desist Order Should Issue as to Ms. Black-White 

Under Section 21C(a) of the Exchange Act, the Commission is authorized to issue an 

order requiring a person who has violated a relevant statute, regulation or rule under its 

jurisdiction to cease and desist from committing or causing such a violation or any future 

violation of such statute, regulation or rule. 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(a). Entry of a cease-and-desist 

order is not "automatic" upon proof of a past violation. See KP MG Peat Marwick, LLP v. SEC, 

Exchange Act Release No. 43862,2001 SEC LEXIS 98, at*l01, *114 (Jan. 19, 2001),pet. 

denied, 289 F.3d 109, 124-25 (D.C. Cir. 2002). There must be evidence of"some risk" of future 

violation before a cease-and-desist order is appropriate. !d. The risk need not be very great, 

however, to warrant issuing a cease-and-desist order and is less onerous than the "likelihood of 

future violations" standard for obtaining injunctive relief. !d. However, courts have held that 

the "some risk" standard still requires more proof than just that the respondent committed a prior 

violation. See WHX Corp. v. SEC, 362 F.3d 854, 859 (D.C. Cir. 2004). 

In addition to risk of future violations, the Commission also considers the following 

factors to determine whether a cease-and-desist order is appropriate, with no one factor being 

dispositive: a) the seriousness of the violation; b) the isolated or recurrent nature of the violation; 

c) the violator's state of mind; d) the sincerity of any assurances against future violations; e) the 

recognition by the violator of the wrongful nature of his conduct; and f) the opportunity to 
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commit future violations. In the Matter of Maria T Giesige, SEC Release No. ID-359, 2008 WL 

4489677 (Oct. 7, 2008) (citing KPMG Peat Marwick, LLP, 54 SEC 1135, 1192 (2001). 

Here, each of the above factors weighs in favor of issuance of a cease-and-desist order as 

to Ms. Black-White. The violations of the securities laws were egregious; egregious enough to 

warrant both criminal and civil prosecution, with the imposition of a twelve month and one day 

prison sentence in the criminal case. The violations were not isolated. Ms. Black-White's 

involvement touched four different companies. Had the FBI not pulled the plug on the 

undercover operation there is no reason to believe Ms. Black-White would not have continued 

with the scheme. In addition, her state of mind reflects a high degree of scienter. She acted with 

full disclosure and understanding of the illegal nature of the conduct, and with the clear intention 

to illegally enrich herself. As to assurances against future violations, Ms. Black-White thus far 

has offered none. 

Finally, the violations alleged against Ms. Black-White, and for which she was convicted 

in the criminal case, involve companies that trade in the relatively unregulated over-the-counter 

stock market. Those markets are easily accessible, offering ample opportunity for Ms. Black

White to commit future violations of the federal securities laws relating to trading in penny 

stocks. The cumulative weight of these factors easily meets the standard for "some risk" of 

future violations. Therefore, the issuance of a cease-and-desist order is both appropriate and 

necessary to ensure the highest possible barriers to a recurrence of these sorts of violations by 

Ms. Black-White. 

2. A Permanent Penny Stock Bar Should Be Imposed as to Ms. Black-White 

Pursuant to Section 15(b )( 6) of the Exchange Act, penny stock bars may be imposed in 

Commission actions "against any person participating in, or, at the time of the alleged 
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misconduct, who was participating in, an offering of penny stock." 15 U.S.C. § 780(b)(6). 

This definition includes "any person engaging in activities with a broker, dealer, or issuer for 

purposes of issuing, trading, or inducing or attempting to induce the purchase or sale of, any 

penny stock." !d. Ms. Black-White acted to induce the purchase of securities by the 

undercover FBI agent in four separate companies as part of a fraudulent scheme, and the 

securities at issue in this matter qualified as "penny stocks" because they did not meet any of 

the exceptions from the definition of a "penny stock," as defined by Section 3(a)(51) of the 

Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78c (a)(51), and Rule 3a51-1 thereunder, 17 C.P.R. 240.3a51-1. 

Among other things, the securities were equity securities: (1) that were not an "NMS stock," as 

defined in Exchange Act Rule 600(b)(47), 17 C.P.R. 242.600(b)(47); (2) that traded below five 

dollars per share during the relevant period; (3) whose issuer had net tangible assets and 

average revenue below the thresholds of Exchange Act Rule 3a51-l(g)(1); and ( 4) did not meet 

any of the other exceptions from the definition of"penny stock" contained in Rule 3a51-1 of 

the Exchange Act. 

Section 15(b)(6)(A) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78o(b)(6)(A), authorizes the 

Commission to impose penny stock bars in administrative proceedings. Like the statutory 

authority for federal courts, section 15(b)(6)(A) authorizes the Commission to impose the bar on 

"any person participating, or, at the time of the alleged misconduct, who was participating, in an 

offering of any penny stock." The Commission may do so if it finds that the bar is in the "public 

interest" and the person has violated, or has aided and abetted the violation of, the federal 

securities laws. 15 U.S.C. § 78o(b)(6)(A)(i) (referring to 15 U.S.C. § 78o(b)(4)(A),(D),(E)). 
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When deciding whether to impose a penny stock bar, federal courts and administrative 

judges generally consider factors that were first outlined in Steadman v. SEC, 603 F.2d 1126, 

1140 (5th Cir. 1979) as: 

a) the egregiousness of the defendant's actions, b) the isolated or recurrent 
nature of the infraction, c) the degree of scienter involved, d) the sincerity of the 
defendant's assurances against future violations, e) the defendant's recognition of 
the wrongful nature of his conduct, and f) the likelihood that the 
defendant's occupation will present opportunities for future violations. 

Id. at 1140 (citing SEC v. Blatt, 583 F. 2d 1325, 1334 n.29 (5th Cir. 1978); see also SEC v. Patel, 

61 F.3d 137, 141 (2d Cir.1995) (listing same factors for office and director bar) (citation 

omitted); SEC v. First Pacific Bancorp, 142 F.3d 1186, 1193 (9th Cir. 1998) (same); see also 

Clawson v. SEC, 2005 WL 2174637, at *2 (9th Cir. Sept. 8, 2005) (applying Steadman factors 

and denying petition seeking review of Commission decision imposing permanent penny stock 

bar); SEC v. Indigenous Global Development Corp., 2008 WL 8853722, at *18 (N.D. Cal. June 

30, 2008) (applying Steadman factors and imposing permanent penny stock bar); SEC v. 

Blackout Media Corp., 2012 WL 4051951, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 14, 2012) (applying Patel 

factors and imposing permanent penny stock bar); SEC v. Boock, 2012 WL 3133638, at *2-3 

(S.D.N.Y. Aug. 2, 2012) (applying Patel factors and imposing permanent penny stock bar); In 

the Matter of Vladimir Bugarski et al., Admin. Proceeding File No. 3-14496 (Initial Decisions 

Release No. 66842 (April 20, 2012)) (applying Steadman factors and affirming initial decision 

imposing permanent penny stock bar, among other relief); In the Matter of Peter Siris, Admin. 

Proceeding File No. 3-15057 (Initial Decisions Release No. 477 (Dec. 31, 2012)) (applying 

Steadman factors and imposing permanent penny stock bar); In the Matter of Stanley Brooks and 

Brookstreet Securities Corp., Admin. Proceeding File No. 3-14983 (Initial Decisions Release 
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No. 475 (Dec. 11, 2012) (same); In the Matter of Robert Pribilski, Admin. Proceeding File 3-

14875 (Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Release No. 67915 (Sept. 24, 2012)) (same). 

Obviously the Steadman factors track closely the factors looked to for determining the 

appropriateness of issuing a cease-and-desist order, discussed above. As with the above analysis 

relating to a cease-and-desist order, each of the above factors weighs in favor of issuance of a 

penny stock bar as to Ms. Black-White. The violations of the securities laws were egregious. 

The violations were not isolated. Ms. Black-White's state of mind reflects a high degree of 

scienter. She acted with full disclosure and understanding of the illegal nature of the conduct, 

and with the clear intention to illegally emich herself. As to assurances against future violations, 

she has offered none, and nothing before, during or since her change of plea on the related 

criminal charges indicates any recognition or acknowledgment by her of the wrongful nature of 

her conduct. Finally, the violations alleged against Ms. Black-White, and for which she already 

has been convicted in the criminal case, involve companies that trade in the relatively 

unregulated over-the-counter stock market. Those markets are easily accessible, offering ample 

opportunity for Ms. Black-White to commit future violations of the federal securities laws 

relating to trading in penny stocks. The cumulative weight of these factors easily meets the 

standard for imposition of a penny stock bar against Ms. Black-White. 

3. A Permanent Officer and Director Bar Should Be Imposed as to Ms. 

Black-White 

The Court has the authority to impose an officer and director bar as to Ms. Black-

White. The Exchange Act gives the Court express authority to impose officer and 

director bars: 

In any cease-and-desist proceedings under subsection (a), the Commission may 
issue an order to prohibit, conditionally or unconditionally, and permanently or 
for such period of time as it shall determine, any person who has violated 
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section 1 O(b) or the rules or regulations thereunder, from acting as an officer or 
director [of a public company] if the conduct of that person demonstrates 
unfitness to serve as an officer or director. .. 

Exchange Act §21 C(f), 15 U.S.C. § 78u-3(f). 

A comi is afforded substantial discretion in deciding whether to impose an officer and 

director bar and may consider a number of factors, including: "(1) the egregiousness of the 

underlying securities law violation; (2) the defendant's repeat offender status; (3) the defendant's 

role or position when he engaged in the fraud; (4) the defendant's degree of scienter; (5) the 

defendant's economic stake in the violation; and (6) the likelihood that misconduct will recur." 

SECv. Patel, 61 F.3d 137, 141 (2d Cir.1995). ThePate/factors are matters that a court may 

consider, among other factors, in exercising its broad discretion whether to impose a bar, but the 

Patel factors are "neither mandatory nor exclusive," and a "district court may determine that 

some of those factors are inapplicable in a pmiicular case and it may take other relevant factors 

into account." SEC v. Bankosky, 716 F.3d 45, 48 (2d Cir. 2013). In addition, in SEC v. 

Banko sky the Second Circuit accepted the Commission's argument that the Steadman factors 

(generally applicable to bars from association) also are "suggestive and non-exclusive indicators 

of unfitness to serve" as an officer or director. !d. at 49 (citing Steadman v. SEC, 603 F.2d 1126, 

1140 (5th Cir. 1979)). 

Most of the Patel factors are discussed above with respect to whether the court should 

order a penny stock bar as to Ms. Black-White. The same analysis applies in the context of an 

officer and director bar and, again, weighs heavily in favor of imposition of that bar as well. The 

Patel factors not discussed above include whether Ms. Black-White was a repeat offender, which 

she was not, although the scheme itself involved multiple companies. Another factor is the 

position held by Ms. Black-White at the time she engaged in the fraudulent conduct. She was a 
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member of Symbollon's Board of Directors. In other words, at the time she committed the fraud 

as to each of the four companies, she was serving as a director of a public company. This also 

weighs heavily in favor of a permanent bar being imposed. Finally, Ms. Black-White had a 

direct economic stake in the fraud. A kickback went to the seemingly corrupt Fund Manager; a 

payoff went to Ms. Black-White. Again, this weighs heavily in favor of a permanent officer and 

director bar. 

Conclusion 

For the reasons discussed above, the Division submits that, as stipulated, Ms. Black-

White violated Section lO(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5(a), thereunder. The Division 

further submits that based on the evidence and legal standards referenced above, issuance by the 

Court of a cease-and-desist order, a permy stock bar and an officer and director bar as to Ms. 

Black-White are well-founded and appropriate. 

Dated: March 2, 2015 Respectfully submitted, 

//? "/1 

/�' . ////." .- I /f/2_'""" /Is// Martin F. Heale /'; / , , ?�,____..,_ 

Martin F. Healey  
Securities and Exchange Con'lfnission 
33 Arch Street, 23rd Floor 
Boston, MA 02025 

COUNSEL FOR 
DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
Before the 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
Release No. 73163 I September 22, 2014 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
Flle No. 3-16143 

In the Matter of 

KELLY BLACK-WHITE, 

Respondent. 

ORDER INSTITUTING 
ADMINISTRATIVE AND CEASE-AND
DESIST PROCEEDINGS PURSUANT 
TO SECTIONS 15(b) AND 21C OF THE 
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 
1934 

I. 

The Securities and Exchange Commission ("Commission") deems it appropriate 
and in the public interest that public administrative and cease-and-desist proceedings be, 
and hereby are, instituted pursuant to Sections 15(b) and 21C of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act") against Kelly Black-White ("Respondent" or "Black-
White''). 

· 

II. 

After an investigation, the Division of Enforcement alleges that: 

A. RESPONDENT 

1. Respondent, age 53, is a resident of Mesa, .Arizona. During the 
period May 2011 through July 2011 ("the Relevant Period"}, Respondent was president 
of Premier Funding Services, Inc. and Premier Media Services, Inc., which purports to 
provide investor and public relations services to small cap market companies, including 
Symbollon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Symbollon"}, of which she was a member of the 
Board of Directors. Respondent participated in an offering of the stock of 1st Global 
Financial, Corp. ("1st Global"), Com Cam International, Inc. ("ComCam"}, Symbollon, 
and Microholdings US, Inc. ("Microholdings"} which are penny stocks. Respondent 
pleaded guilty to one count of conspiracy to commit securities fraud and eleven counts of 
wire fraud on September 12,2013 in U.S. v. Kelly Black-While, et al., 11-CR-10416-DJC 



(D. Mass.). On February 5, 2014, Respondent was sentenced to 12 months and one day 
of imprisonment, to be followed by two years' supervised release, and was ordered to pay 
a $7,500 fine. She was ordered to forfeit $6,050 on February 10,2014. 

B. OTHER RELEVANT EN1ITIES AND INDIVIDUALS 

1. 1st Global Financial, Corp., a Nevada company with its principal 
place of business in Las Vegas, Nevada, is purportedly in the real estate investment or 
development business. 1st Global appears to have operated under several other company 
names in the past, including Global Debit Cash Card, Inc.; Venture Media 
Communications; Venturenetcom, Inc.; and Mount McKinley Gold, Inc. 
Venturenetcom, Inc. registered its common stock under Exchange Act Section 12(g) in 
2000, and then filed a Form 15 on October 15, 2001 to terminate its Section 12(g) 
registration. On December 1, 2011, the Commission, pursuant to Exchange Act Section 
12(k), suspended trading in the securities of 1st Global for a period of ten business days. 
1st Global's stock had been quoted on OTC Pink under the symbol "FGBF," but its 
symbol changed to "PROD" on August 28, 2013. OTC Markets has discontinued 
quoting PROD stock and has applied the "caveat emptor'' label to it. 

2. ComCam International, Inc., a Delaware company with its 
principal place of business in West Chester, Pennsylvania, designs, manufactures, and 
sells video surveillance systems. ComCam's common stock is currently quoted on the 
OTCQB under the symbol "CMCJ." Its common stock was registered with the 
Commission under Exchange Act Section 12(g), but the company filed a notice of 
termination of its registration on March 19, 2012. On December 1, 2011, the 
Commission, pursuant to Section 12(k) of the Exchange Act, suspended trading in the 
securities of ComCam for a period of ten business days. 

3. Symbollon Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation formerly 
known as Symbollon Corp. with its principal place of business in Medfield, 
Massachusetts, is engaged in the development and commercialization of proprietary 
iodine-based agents and antimicrobials. Symbollon's common stock is registered with 
the Commission pursuant to Exchange Act Section 12(g), but the last periodic report filed 
by the company was its March 31, 2011 Form 1 0-Q filed on May 16, 2011. On 
December 1, 2011, the Commission, pursuant to Exchange Act Section 12(k), suspended 
trading in the securities of Symbollon for a period of ten business days. Symbollon's 
common stock was previously quoted on the OTC Markets under the symbol "SYMBA," 
but OTC Markets has discontinued quoting SYMBA stock and has applied the "caveat 
emptor'' label to it. 

4. Microholdings US, Inc. was an Oklahoma corporation with its 
principal place of business in Vancouver, Washington, that described itself as "a Public 
Holding Company positioned for new mergers or acquisitions." It is now defunct. Its 
common stock was quoted on the OTC Pinks under the symbol MCHU. It never 
registered an offering of securities under the Securities Act or a class of securities under 
the Exchange Act. On December 1, 2011, the Commission filed a civil injunctive action 
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against Microholdings alleging that it violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and 
Rule IOb-5 thereunder. 

5. Albert Reda ("R$")� age 67, a resident of Tustin� California, was 
Treasurer of 1st Global and a member of its Board of Directors during the Relevant 
Period. On November 4, 2013, Reda was found guilty after a jury trial of one count of 
Wire fraud and one count of mail fraud in U.S. v. Reda. et al., 11-CR-1 0416-DJC (D. 
Mass.). On March 11, 2014, Reda was sentenced to 26 months' imprisonment, to be 
followed by one years' supervised release. He was also ordered to pay a fine of$6,000 
and to forfeit $16,000. 

6. Stephen Stuart ("Stuart"), age 50, is a resident of Monrovia, 
Maryland. During the Relevant Period, Stuart was a consultant to and shareholder of 
ComCam. On October 24, 2013, Stuart pleaded guilty to·one count of wire fraud and one 
count of mail fraud in U.S. v. Stuart, et al., 11-CR-10416-DJC (D. Mass.). He was 
sentenced on February 12, 2014 to 16 months' probation, the first two months to be 
served in community confinement followed by home detention for a period of six 
months. He was also ordered to pay a fine of$2,000, and, on February 14, 2014, was 

ordered to forfeit $17,000.20. 

7. Donald Gilbreath, age 57, is a resident of West Chester, 
Pennsylvania. During the Relevant Period, Gilbreath was the Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer of ComCam. On June 13, 2012, Gilbreath was charged by criminal 
information with one count of conspiracy to commit securities fraud and pleaded guilty to 
that charge on June 29, 2012 in US. v. Donald Gilbreath, 12-CR-10186 (D. Mass.). 
Gilbreath was sentenced on December 19, 2013 to 18 months' probation and was ordered 
to pay a fine of$2,000 and to forfeit$17,000. 

8. Edward Henderson ("Henderson"}, age 71, is a resident of Lincoln, 
Rhode Island. During the Relevant Period, Henderson held himself out as a "promoter" 
or "finder" with respect to small companies who are seeking venture capital or other 
sources of funding. On January 11, 2012, Henderson pleaded guilty to one count of wire 
fraud in U.S. v. Edward Henderson� 11-CR-10393-WGY (D. Mass.). On November 26, 
2013, Henderson was sentenced to one year's probation and was ordered to forfeit 

$12,650. 

C. KICKBACK SCHEME 

1. Black-White Receives a Portion of the Kickback Monies 

a. These proceedings arise out of a fraudulent scheme in which 
insiders of publicly-traded penny stock companies paid secret kickbacks to a purported 
corrupt hedge fund manager, who was in fact an undercover agent with the Federal Bureau 
of Investigation ("Fund Manager''), in exchange for the Fund Manager's purchase of 
restricted stock of the penny stock companies on behalf ofhis purported hedge fund (''the 
Fund"), which did not actually exist. 
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b. At some time prior to June 13, 2011, Henderson told Black-
White that the Fund Manager was willing to invest Fund money in the stock of companies in 
exchange for a fifty percent kickback that would go to the Fund Manager. 

c. On or about June 13,2011, Black-White met with the Fund 
Manager (the "June 13 Black-White Meeting"). At the June 13 Black-White Meeting, the Fund 
Manager offered to pay Black-White a fee for introducing the Fund Manager to executives of 
publicly traded companies who would agree to pay a kickback to the Fund Manager in 
exchange for investing the Fund's money in their companies, enabling the Fund Manager to 
keep for himself half of the money he was supposedly investing on behalf of the Fund. 

d. In particular, Black-White was told that the Fund Manager was 
prepared to invest up to $5 million of the Fund's money in various publicly traded companies, 
provided thoSe companies secretly kicked back fifty percent of those funds- $2,500,000- to 
the Fund Manager. Black-White was informed that the Fund was not to be informed of the 

. kickbacks. 

e. Black-White was told that if the Fund purchased $5 million of 
stock all at once, the transaction might attract attention at the Fund. In order to avoid detection, 
therefore, the Fund Manager said that he would invest the Fund's money gradually, in tranches, 
or installments, that would increase in size over time. 

f. As a further means of concealing the nature of the transactions, 
the Fund Manager told Black-White that the kickback payments would be made to one or more 
nominee consulting companies that the Fund Manager purportedly controlled and about which 
the Fund did not know. The Fund Manager also told Black-White that invoices would be 
issued by one of the Fund Manager's nominee companies in order to disguise the kickbacks. 

g. Black-White reached an agreement with the Fund Manager 
whereby he would pay Black-White approximately ten percent of the kickbacks paid by any 
company executive whom Black-White introduced to the Fund Manager. 

h. Prior to the June 13 Black-White Meeting, Black-White had 
.referred executives from at least two publicly traded companies, Symbollon and 
MicroHoldings, to the Fund Manager so that those executives could enter into a 
funding/kickback agreement with the Fund Manager. 

i. After the June 13 Black-White Meeting, Black-White referred 
the following individuals and companies to the Fund Manager so that they could enter into a 
funding/kickback arrangement with the Fund Manager: Reda, and his company 1st Global; 
Stuart and Gilbreath and their company, ComCam; and executives from two other companies. 

j. Each of the executives whom Black-White referred to the Fund 
Manager agreed to, and did, pay a kickback to the Fund Manager in exchange for the Fund 
Manager causing the Fund to invest in their respective companies' stock. In connection with 
the investments, each of the executives also caused stock certificates to be issued representing 
the purchase by the Fund of shares in their respective companies. 
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k. The investments in the companies that Black-White referred to 
the Fund Manager were made by wire transfers from a bank account maintained in 
Massachusetts. The kickback payments from.the various companies Black-White referred to 
the Fund Manager were made by wire transfers from the various companies to a Citizens Bank 
account held in the name of one of the Fund Manager's nominee companies in Massachusetts. 

I. Based on her agreement with the Fund Manager, on various 
dates between June 22, 201 1 and July 5, 201 1, Black-White received a portion of the kickbacks 
paid by company executives she had referred to the Fund Manager. Black-White's shares of 
the kickbacks, which totaled $6,050, were paid by wire transfer from a Citizens Bank account 
held by one of the Fund Manager's nominee companies in Massachusetts to JP Morgan Chase 
account number ************6930, a bank account held by Premier Funding & Financial 
Marketing, LLC and controlled by Black-White. 

2. The I st Global Scheme 

a. Some time prior to June 29, 201 1 ,  Black-White arranged for 
Reda to meet with the Fund Manager to discuss funding for 1st  Global. 

b. On or about June 29, 201 1, Reda met with the Fund Manager 
(the "June 29 Reda Meeting"). The Fund Manager explained to Reda that he was prepared to 
invest Fund monies of up to $5 million in 1 st  Global stock in exchange for a secret fifty percent 
kickback, enabling the Fund Manager to keep for himself half of the money he was supposedly 
investing on behalf of the Fund. 

c. At the June 29 Reda Meeting, the Fund Manager also explained 
the mechanics of the funding, informing Reda that while the Fund Manager could commit to an 
investment of $5 million of the Fund's money, with $2.5 million being kicked back to the Fund 
Manager, the Fund Manager did not want to invest the entire amount at once. Therefore, the 
Fund Manager told Reda he would invest the money over time in tranches, or installments, of 
increasing amounts. 

d. At the June 29 Reda Meeting. the Fund Manager further 
discussed with Reda the mechanics of how monies would be kicked back to the Fund Manager. 
The fund Manager arranged with Reda that l st Global would execute a consulting agreement 
with one of the nominee consulting companies that the Fund Manager purportedly controlled, 
but that the Fund Manager would not actually provide any consulting services. Reda was told 
that invoices would be issued by one of the Fund Manager's nominee companies to 1st  Global 
in order to disguise the kickbacks. 

e. At the June 29 Reda Meeting, Reda agreed to the 
funding/kickback arrangement. 

f. On various dates between June 30, 20 II and July 5, 20 1 1 ,  Reda 
sent the Fund Manager documents related to the kickback transaction, including a consulting 
agreement between 1 st  Global and one of the Fund Manager's nominee consulting cdmpanies 
and stock purchase agreements between 1st Global and the Fund. 
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g. On or about July 5, 20 I 1 ,  in accordance with wiring 
instructions provided by Reda, $32,000 was sent by wire transfer from a bank account 
maintained in Massachusetts, purportedly belonging to the Fund, to a 1st Global corporate bank 
account outside of Massachusetts. This wire transfer represented the first tranche of funding to 
1st Global. 

h. On or about July 5, 201 1 ,  Reda caused a stock certificate 
representing the purchase by the Fund of 1st Global shares to be sent to the Fund Manager. 

i. On or about July 6, 201 1, Reda caused a total of$1 6,000 to be 
sent by wire transfer from a 1st Global corporate bank account outside of Massachusetts to a 
Citizens Bank account held in the name of one of the Fund Manager's nominee companies in 
Massachusetts. This wire transfer represented Reda's kickback to the Fund Manager from the 
fl.rst tranche of funding to 1st Global. 

· 

3. The ComCam Scheme 

a. On or about June 29, 201 I ,  Stuart and Gilbreath met with the 
Fund Manager (''the June 29 Com Cam Meeting''). The Fund Manager explained to Stuart 
and Gilbreath that he was prepared to invest Fund monies of up to $5 million in Com Cam 
stock in exchange for a secret fifty percent kickback, thereby enabling the Fund Manager to 
keep half of the money he was supposedly investing on behalf of the Fund. 

b. At the June 29 ComCam Meeting, the Fund Manager also 
explained the mechanics of the funding, informing Stuart and Gilbreath that, while the Fund 
Manager could commit to an investment of$5 million of the Fund's money, with $2.5 million 
being kicked back to the Fund Manager, the Fund Manager did not want to invest the entire 
amount at once. Therefore, the Fund Manager told Stuart and Gilbreath that he would invest 
the money over time in tranches, or installments, of increasing amounts. 

c. At the June 29 ComCam Meeting, the Fund Manager further 
discussed with Stuart and Gilbreath the mechanics of how monies would be kicked back to 
the Fund Manager. He arranged with Stuart and Gilbreath that Com Cam would execute a 
consulting agreement with one of the nominee consulting companies that he purportedly 
controlled, but that the Fund Manager would not actually provide any consulting services. 
Stuart and Gilbreath were told that invoices would be issued by the Fund Manager's nominee 
company to Com Cam in order to disguise the kickbacks. 

d. At the June 29 ComCam Meeting, Stuart and Gilbreath 
agreed to the funding/kickback arrangement 

e. On various dates between June 30, 201 1 and July 8, 201 1 ,  
Gilbreath sent the Fund Manager documents related to th e  kickback transaction, 
including a consulting agreement between ComCam and one of the Fund Manager's 
nominee consulting companies, stock purchase agreements between Com Cam and the 
Fund, and a phony invoice for non-existent consulting services purportedly rendered by 
the Fund Manager's nominee company. 
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f. On or about July 5, 201 1 ,  in accordance with wiring 
instructions provided by Gilbreath, $34,000.20 was sent by wire transfer from a bank . 
account maintained in Massachusetts, purportedly belonging to the Fund, to a ComCam 
corporate bank account outside of Massachusetts. This wire transfer represented the first 
tranche of funding to Com Cam. 

g. On or about July 6, 201 1, Stuart and Gilbreath caused a 
total of$ 17,000 to be sent by wire transfer from a ComCam corporate bank account 
outside of Massachusetts to a Citizens Bank account held in the name of one of the Fund 
Manager's nominee companies in Massachusetts. This wire transfer represented 
Gilbreath's and Stuart's kickback to the Fund Manager from the first tranche of funding to 
Com Cam. 

h. On or about July 8, 201 1, Stuart and Gilbreath caused a 
stock certificate representing the purchase by the Fund of 65,385 Com Cam shares to be 
sent to the Fund Manager. 

D. VIOLATIONS 

1.  As a result of the conduct described above, Black-White willfully 
violated Section IO(b)ofthe Exchange Act and Rule lOb-S( a) thereunder, which prohibit 
fraudulent conduct in connection with the purchase or sale of securities. 

m. 

In view of the allegations made by the Division of Enforcement, the Commission 
deems it necessary and appropriate in the public interest that public administrative and 
cease-and-desist proceedings be instituted to determine: 

A. Whether the allegations set forth in Section 1I hereof are true and, in 
connection therewith, to afford Respondent an opportunity to establish any defenses to such 
allegations; 

B. What, if any, remedial action is appropriate in the public interest against 
Respondent pursuant to Section 1 5(b) of the Exchange Act including, but not limited to, 
disgorgement, and civil penalties pursuant to Section 21 B of the Exchange Act; and 

C. Whether, pursuant to Section 21 C of the Exchange Act, Respondent should 
be ordered to cease and desist from committing or causing violations of and any future 
violations of Section l O(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule l Ob-5 thereunder, whether, 
pursuant to Section 2 1C(f) of the Exchange Act, Respondent should be prohibited, 
conditionally or unconditionally, and pennanently or for such period of time as shall be 
detennined, from acting as an officer or director of any issuer that has a class of securities 
registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act, or that is required to file reports 
pursuant to Section 1 5( d) of the Exchange Act, whether Respondent should be ordered to 
pay a civil penalty pursuant to Section 21 B(a) of the Exchange Act, and whether 
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Respondent should be ordered to pay disgorgement pursuant to Sections 2 1  B{ e) and 2 1  C( e) 
of the Exchange Act 

IV. 

IT IS ORDERED that a public hearing for the purpose of taking evidence on the 
questions set forth in Section Ill hereof shall be convened not earlier than 30 days and not 
later than 60 days from service of this Order at a time and place to be fixed, and before an 
Administrative Law Judge to be designated by further order as provided by Rule 1 10 of the 
Commission's Rules of Practice, 1 7  C.P.R. § 201 . 1 1 0. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondent shall file an Answer to the allegations 
contained in this Order within twenty (20) days after service of this Order, as provided by 
Rule 220 of the Commission's Rules of Practice, 17  C.F.R. § 201 .220. 

If Respondent fails to file the directed answer, or fails to appear at a hearing after 
being duly notified, the Respondent may be deemed in default and the proceedings may be 
determined against him upon consideration of this Order, the allegations of which may be 
deemed to be true as provided by Rules 1 55(a), 220(f), 221 (f) and 3 1 0  of the Commission's 
Rules ofPractice, 1 7  C.F.R. §§ 201 . 155(a), 20l .220(f), 201 .22I(f) and 201 .3 1 0. 

This Order shall be served forthwith upon Respondent personally or by certified 
mail. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Administrative Law Judge shall issue an 
initial decision no later than 300 days from the date of service of this Order, pursuant to 
Rule 360(a)(2) of the Commission's Rules ofPractice. 

In the absence of an appropriate waiver, no officer or employee of the Commission 
engaged in the performance of investigative or prosecuting functions in this or any factually 
related proceeding will be pennitted to participate or advise in the decision of this matter, 
except as witness or counsel in proceedings held pursuant to notice. Since this proceeding is 
not "rule making» within the meaning of Section 55 1 of the Administrative Procedure Act, it 
is not deemed subject to the provisions of Section 553 delaying the effective date of any 
final Commission action. 

By the Commission. 
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'M'm.{J� {J!Il �- Peterson 
Assistant Secretary 
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P R 0 C E E D I N G S 

( The f o l l owing proceedings were  held in  open 

court b e f o r e  the Honorab l e  Deni s e  J .  Caspe r ,  Un i t ed S ta t e s  

D i s t r i c t  Judge , United S t a t e s  D i s t r i c t  Cour t ,  D i s t r i ct o f  

M a s s a chuset t s ,  at the  John J .  Moak l e y  U n i t e d  S t a t e s  C o urthous e ,  

1 Courthouse Wa y ,  B o s t o n ,  Ma s s achuse t t s , o n  S eptemb e r  1 2 ,  2 0 1 3 . 

The de fendant , Ke l l y  Blac k-Wh i t e , i s  present with 

c ouns e l . The As s i s tant U . S .  Attorney i s  p r e s ent . )  

THE CLERK : Criminal a c t i on 1 1- 1 0 4 1 6 ,  United S t a t e s  v .  

Ke l l  B l a c k-Whi t e . 

Would coun s e l  p l e a s e  s t a t e  your name f o r  the r e c o rd . 

MR . CHRI S TOFFERSON : Good a ft e rn o o n ,  your Hono r . E r i c  

Chri s t o f f e r s on for t h e  United S t a te s . 

THE COURT : Good a ft ernoon , couns e l . 

MR . FULLE R : Good a ft ernoon , your Hono r . S t even 

Ful l e r  for Ke l l y  B l a c k-Wh i te .  

THE COURT : Good a ft e rnoon,  c ouns e l . 

Good a ft e rnoon . 

Couns e l  and Ms . B l a c k-Whi t e ,  I know we ' re h e r e  for a 

change o f  p l e a . 

Couns e l ,  a s  I under s t and i t ,  the proposed p l e a  i s  t o  

Counts O n e  through E l even a n d  Thi rt e e n ,  and i t ' s  pursuant t o  a 

p l ea agreement i n  wh ich the s entencing recommendat i ons a re n ' t  

b i nd i ng o n  the Court ; i s  that f a i r ?  

MR . CHRISTOFFERSON : That ' s  corre c t , your Hono r . 
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THE COURT : Couns e l ,  i f  that ' s  a l l  in  o rde r ,  

Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e ,  you c a n  t a ke the w i t ne s s  s t and . Mr . Ful l e r ,  

you ' re f r e e  t o  s tand next t o  h e r  dur i ng the c o l l oquy . 

( De fe ndant sworn in  by the c l e r k . )  

THE COURT : Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e , do you unde r s t and that 

you ' re now unde r  oath and that i f  you answer any of my 

ques t i ons f a l s e l y ,  your answe r s  may l a t e r  be used against  you 

in another pros e cut i on f o r  p e r j ury or ma king fa l s e  s t at ement s ?  

THE DE FENDANT : Yes , ma ' am .  

THE COURT : And I ' m going t o  a s k  you t o  move the 

microphone c l o s e r  t o  you , j us t  so I can hear you and Ms . Joyce , 

our court repo rte r ,  can hear  you . 

4 

Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e , the rea s on I ' ve a s ked Mr . Ful l e r  t o  

s t and next t o  y o u  i s  i f  y o u  have a n y  que s t i ons f o r  your coun s e l  

a t  a n y  p o i n t  dur ing m y  que s t i ons t o  you , I ' l l g i v e  you a moment 

t o  consult with h im, o kay?  

THE DE FENDANT : Y e s , your Hono r . 

THE COURT : Wha t ' s  your ful l  name ? 

THE DE FENDANT : Ke l l y  Mar i e  B l a c k-Wh i t e . 

THE COURT : How o l d  a r e  you? 

THE DEFENDANT : F i fty-three . 

THE COURT : How f a r  did you g o  in  s cho o l ?  

THE DEFENDANT : C ommuni t y  c o l l ege . 

THE COURT : Are you a c i t i z e n  o f  the Uni t ed S t a t e s  ? 

THE DEFENDANT : Y e s . 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

0 2 : 2 9 1 0  

1 1  

1 2  

1 3  

1 4  

1 5  

1 6  

1 7  

1 8  

1 9  

0 2 : 2 9  2 0  

2 1  

22  

23  

2 4  

2 5  

Case 1 : 1 1-cr-10416-DJC Document 8 2  Fi led 09/24/13 Page 5 of 28 

THE COURT : Have you b e e n  t r e a t e d  re cent l y  for any 

men t a l  i l ln e s s  o r  ps ychi a t r i c  or ps ycho l og i c a l  prob l em of any 

kind? 

THE DEFENDANT : No . 

THE COURT : Have you b e e n  t r e a t ed recent l y  f o r  any 

drug addi c t i o n ,  drug prob l em,  or a l coho l probl em of any k i nd ?  

T H E  DEFENDANT : No . 

THE COURT : As you s i t  here toda y ,  a re you unde r the 

i n fluence of any medi c a t i o n ,  p r e s cription o r  otherwi s e ,  any 

drug or al cohol i c  beverage of any kind? 

THE DEFENDANT : No . 

THE COURT : Now,  have you rece ived a c opy o f  the 

i ndi c tment , the sup e r s eding indictme n t ,  against you in  t h i s  

ca s e ?  

THE DEFENDANT : Yes . 

5 

THE COURT : Do you unde r s t and the cha rges aga i n s t  you? 

THE DEFEN DANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : Do you unde r s t and that Count One cha rges 

you wi th consp i racy t o  comm i t  s e curi t i e s  fraud in v i o l a t i on o f  

T i t l e  1 8 ,  United S t a t e s  Code 1 3 4 9 ,  and that the othe r counts ,  

Counts Two through E l even and Thirt e e n ,  charge you with w i r e  

fraud i n  v i o l a t i on o f  T i t l e  1 8 ,  Uni ted S t a t e s  Code 1 3 4 3 ?  

THE DE FENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : Have you ful l y  d i s cus s ed the charges 

agai ns t  you and the facts  and c i r cums tances of  your c a s e  with 
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your coun s e l ,  Mr . Ful l e r ?  

THE DEFENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : Mr . Ful l e r ,  I ' l l d i r e c t  t h i s  que s t ion t o  

you . Have you communicated a l l  f o rma l o f fers  f rom the 

p r o s e cut i o n  to accept a p l e a  o n  t e rms and cond i t i ons that ma y 

be  favorabl e  to your c l i ent ? 

MR . FULLE R : Yes , your Honor . 

THE COURT : Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e , a r e  you ful l y  s a t i s f i e d  

w i t h  t h e  couns e l ,  repre s e n t a t i o n ,  and advice t h a t  your coun s e l ,  

Mr . Ful l e r , has given you i n  t h i s  c a s e ?  

T H E  DE FENDANT : Yes . 

6 

THE COURT : As I a s ked couns e l  b e f o r e , I und e r s t and 

that there is a p l e a  agreement in thi s c a s e  that you ' ve ente red 

into with the United S t a t e s ,  and actua l l y, I ' m going t o  a s k  

Ms . Hourihan t o  give you the o r i ginal  copy o f  that a gr e ement . 

Ms . B l a c k-Wh i te , p l aced b e f o r e  you i s  a p l e a  agreement 

dated S eptembe r  1 1 ,  2 0 1 3 . Did you s i gn t h i s  agreemen t ?  

T H E  DEFEN DANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : I ' l l a s k you t o  turn t o  the l a s t  -- I 

b e l i eve what ' s  the l a s t  page , page 1 1 . 

I s  that your s i gnatu r e ?  

T H E  DE FENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : Did you have an  opportun i t y  t o  read the 

agreement and d i s cu s s  it with Mr . Ful l e r  be f o re you s igned i t ?  

THE DE FENDANT : Y e s . 
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THE COURT : Does t h i s  agreement cont a i n  a l l  the t e rms 

t o  which you ' ve agreed? 

THE DEFEN DANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : Do you und e r s t a nd the t e rms o f  thi s 

agreemen t ?  

T H E  DE FENDANT : Y e s . 

7 

THE COURT : Do you unde r s t and that this i s  the only 

agreement that you have with the  Uni ted S t a t e s , with the Uni t ed 

S t a t e s  gove rnme n t ?  

THE DE FENDANT : Y e s . 

THE COURT : H a s  anyone made any promi s e  o r  a s surance 

t o  you that is not i n  the p l e a  agreement t o  p e rsuade you to 

accept this agreemen t ?  

THE DEFENDANT : No . 

THE COURT : H a s  anyone made any other o r  d i f f e rent 

promi s e  or a s surance to you of any kind in  an  e f fort  t o  get  you 

to p l e a d  gui l t y  in t h i s  cas e ?  

THE DE FENDANT : No . 

THE COURT : H a s  anyone threatened you i n  any wa y t o  

persuade y o u  t o  a cc ept t h i s  a greemen t ?  

T H E  DEFENDANT : N o . 

THE COURT : Do you und e r s t and that the t e rms o f  the 

plea agreement as to your s ent ence are me r e l y  recommendat ions 

t o  me ; that i s ,  I could,  a ft e r  I s ee the pres entence report and 

hear  couns e l  at s e n t e n c i n g ,  I could r e j ect  those 
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recommendat ions wi thout permi t t i ng you t o  wi thdraw your gui l t y  

p l e a  and imp o s e  a s entence t h a t  may be mo r e  s evere than wha t  

y o u  anti cipa t e ?  

T H E  DE FENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : You unde r s t and tha t ?  

THE DEFENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : Has anyone a t t empted i n  any way t o  force 

you t o  p l e a d  gui l t y  i n  thi s c a s e ?  

THE DEFENDANT : No . 

THE COURT : Do you unde r s t and that the o f fenses t o  

whi ch y o u  are  p l eadi ng gui l t y  a r e  f e l o n y  o f fens e s ?  

THE DE FENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : Do you unders tand that i f  I accept your 

p l e a , you ' l l be j udged gui l t y  of tho s e  o f fens e s ?  

THE DEFENDANT : Y e s . 

THE COURT : Do you unde r s t and that by be ing j udged 

gui l t y ,  you may l o s e  c e r t a i n  valuab l e  c i v i l  r i ght s ,  i nc l ud i ng 

the r i ght t o  vote ,  the r i ght t o  hold pub l i c  o f f i c e , the r i ght 

t o  s e rve on  a j ur y ,  and the right to po s s e s s  a gun o r  any kind 

o f  f i re a rm? 

THE DE FENDANT : I didn ' t  under s tand the voting . 

MR . FULLE R : May I ?  

THE COURT : Yes , yes , a nd you can move the microphone 

awa y ,  couns e l . 

( De f endant confe rred wi th couns e l . )  

8 
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THE COURT : Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e ,  I ' m j us t  going to repeat 

the que s t i o n . 

9 

Do you unde r s t and that by be ing j udged gui l t y ,  you ma y 

l o s e  valuab l e  c i v i l  r i ght s ,  includ i ng the right t o  vo t e ,  the 

r i ght t o  hold pub l i c  o f f i c e , the r i ght to s e rve on a j ur y ,  and 

the ri ght t o  pos s e s s  a gun o r  any kind o f  f i r e a rm? 

THE DE FENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : Mr . Chri s to f f e r s o n ,  can you p l e a s e  s t a t e  

the maximum s tatutory pena l t i e s  f o r  e ach o f  t h e  counts h e r e ?  

MR . CHR I STO FFERSON : Ye s ,  your Hono r . 

With respect t o  Count One , whi ch i s  the conspiracy t o  

commi t s e curi t i e s  fraud pursuant t o  18  U S C ,  S e c t ion 1 3 4 9 ,  the 

maximum pena l t i e s  are  25 years of imp r i sonment ; $ 2 5 0 , 0 0 0  fine 

o r  doub l e  the g a i n  o r  l os s ,  whi chever i s  g re a t e r ; f ive years o f  

supervi s ed r e l e as e ; a $ 1 0 0  spe c i a l  a s s es sment ; a nd f o r f e i ture 

a s  a l l e ged i n  the i nd i c tment . 

Then wi th respect t o  the w i r e  f raud counts , whi ch a r e  

Count s Two through E l even and T h i rt e e n ,  pursuant t o  18  U S C ,  

S e ct i on 1 3 4 3 ,  e ach c a r r i e s  a max imum t e rm o f  imp r i s o nment o f  20  

yea r s ; a max imum f i n e  o f  $ 2 5 0 , 0 0 0  o r  doub l e  t h e  g a i n  o r  l o s s , 

whi chever i s  gre a te r ;  three years o f  supervised r e l e a s e ;  $ 1 0 0  

spe c i a l  a s s e s sme nt ; and forfe i ture , a s  a l l eged . 

THE COURT : Tha n k  you . 

Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e , do you unders tand that I ' l l have the 

autho r i t y  t o  give you a t e rm of imp r i s onmen t  of up t o  25 years 
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o n  Count One and up t o  2 0  years on e ach o f  the other counts 

pending aga i n s t  you? 

THE DEFENDANT : Yes , ma ' am .  

THE COURT : Do you unde r s tand that in add i t i on t o  any 

p r i s on t e rm,  I ' l l have the autho r i t y  t o  give you a t e rm o f  

supe rvi sed r e l e a s e  o f  up t o  f i ve ye a r s  on  Count One , which i s  

the conspi racy t o  commi t  s e cur i t i e s  f raud, and up t o  three 

years on  e a ch o f  the o the r count s ,  the wire fraud count s ?  

THE DEFEN DANT : Yes ,  your Hono r . 

THE COURT : Do  you und e r s t and that i f  you l at e r  

v i o l a t e  t h e  cond i t i ons o f  a n y  supervi s e d  r e l e a s e  t e rm that I 

impos e ,  you can be given addi t i on a l  t ime in prison?  

THE DEFENDANT : Yes , your Hono r .  

THE COURT : On e a ch o f  the counts that are  cha rged 

against you , do you unde r s t and that I wi l l  a l s o  have the 

author i t y  t o  f i ne you up t o  $ 2 5 0 , 0 0 0  or  twice the gross ga in or 

l o s s , whi chever i s  great e r ?  

T H E  DE FENDANT : Ye s ,  your Honor .  

THE COURT :' Do you a l s o  under s t and tha t in  addi t i o n  t o  

t h e  o t h e r  pena l t i e s  I ' ve ment i o ned , you ' l l be  requ ired t o  pa y a 

$ 1 0 0  spe c i a l  a s s e s sment o n  e a ch count f o r  a t o t a l  o f  $ 1 , 2 0 0 ?  

THE DE FENDANT : Yes ,  your Hono r . 

THE COURT : I n  add i t i o n ,  i n  the indictment you ' r e 

charged wi th f o r f e i ture -- o r  there are  f o r fe i ture a l l e g a t i ons 

made aga i n s t  you . Do  you unde r s t and that by pl eading gui l t y ,  
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there may be c e r t a i n  forfe i tu r e  consequenc e s , and you may be 

requi red to forfe i t  c e r t a i n  prop e r t y  to the United S t a te s ?  

MR . FULLER : Your Hono r ,  may I ?  

THE COURT : Yes . 

( De fendant conferred with couns e l . )  

THE DE FENDANT : Ye s ,  your Hono r .  

THE COURT : We l l ,  l e t  me a s k  Mr . Chri s t o f f e r s o n ,  i s  

t h e r e  a l s o  p o s s ib l e  r e s t i t ut i on h e r e ?  

1 1  

MR . CHR I STO FFERSON : Your Hono r ,  g i ven the nature o f  

t h i s  p arti c ul ar c a s e , which involve s , a s  you ' l l hear when w e  go 

over the s t a t ement of fact s ,  an FBI s t ing-type operat i o n ,  we 

r e a l l y  s e e k  the mone y  through the f o r fe i tu r e  provi s i on ,  which 

is conta ined in the p l e a  agreement , and there ' s  an agreed upon 

amount in the f o r fe i ture provi s i on in paragraph 1 0 . 

THE COURT : S o  no r e s t i tu t i o n ,  c ouns e l ?  

MR . FULLE R : Correct . 

THE COURT : Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e , do  you unde r s tand a l l  the 

p o s s ib l e  consequences of p l e ading gui l t y ;  that i s ,  a t e rm o f  

imp r i sonme n t ,  a t e rm o f  sup e rvi s ed r e l e as e ,  a fine , special  

a s s e s sment , the loss  of  c e r t a i n  c i v i l  r i ghts that I d e s c r ibed 

to you , and f o r fe iture ? 

THE DEFEN DANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : I now want t o  t a l k  t o  you about the 

s entenc ing guide l ines and how they might a f fect  your s entence 

i n  this  c a s e . 
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The guide l i ne s  have b e e n  i s sued b y  t h e  United S t a t e s  

Sent encing Commi s s ion for  j udges t o  fo l l ow whe n  de t e rmining t h e  

sentence i n  a c riminal c a s e . The s e  guide l ines are  no l onger 

manda t o r y ,  so I do not have t o  fol l ow them, but they a r e  

important and I do have t o  cons ider them i n  deciding wha t  

s ent ence i s  reasonab l e  here . 

Have you and Mr . Ful l e r  t a l ked about the s entencing 

guide l ines and how they mi ght app l y  i n  your c a s e ?  

T H E  DE FENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : D o  you unders t and that I ' l l not be  abl e  t o  

det e rmine your guide l ine s entence unt i l  a f t e r  P roba t i on has 

prepa red a pres entence r ep o r t ?  

T H E  DE FENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : Do  you unders tand that that report wi l l  

cont a i n  informa t i on about you , you r  bac kground and the crime s 

that you comm i t t e d  i n  t h i s  ca s e ?  

THE DE FENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : Do  you und e r s t and that that report wi l l  

a l s o  conta i n  a recommended app l i ca t ion o f  the advi s o ry 

s entencing guide l ine s ?  

THE DE FENDANT : Y e s . 

THE COURT : Do  you unde r s t and that both you and your 

couns e l  and couns e l  for the government w i l l  have the 

opportun i t y  to review that report , cha l l enge any facts reported 

in i t ,  and cha l l enge any recommended app l i ca t i on of the 
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guide l ines ? 

THE DE FENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : Do you unders tand ,  a s  I sugges ted b e fo re , 

that even though I ' m not requi red t o  f o l l ow the s entencing 

guide l i ne s , I am requ i red t o  cons ide r them? 

THE DEFENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : Do you unde r s t and that unde r the current 

gui de l ines s y s t em,  I may have the auth o r i t y  t o  depart o r  vary 

from the adv i s o r y  s e nt encing guide l i ne range and give you a 

s entenc e that ' s  e i th e r  more or  l e s s  severe than wha t  the 

guide l ines o t he rwi s e  c a l l  for?  

THE DEFENDANT : Ye s ,  your Hono r . 

THE COURT : Do you unde rs t and that be caus e I ' m not 

1 3  

r e qui red t o  f o l l ow the s entencing guide l ines , I have t h e  l e g a l  

aut h o r i t y  t o  s entence y o u  anywh e r e  u p  t o  the max imum s t at ut o ry 

s entenc e ,  provided that any s entence I imp o s e  i s  r e a sonabl e  

unde r the f a c t s  a n d  ci rcumstances o f  your c a s e ? 

THE DEFENDANT : Yes , your Honor . 

THE COURT : Do you unde rs tand that you w i l l  not be 

permit t e d  t o  wi thdraw your gu i l t y  pl e a  because your s entence i s  

l onger than wha t  you expected? 

THE DE FENDANT : Ye s ,  your Hono r . 

THE COURT : That i s ,  t o  the ext ent that your a t t o rney 

o r  government c ouns e l  may have predic t ed wha t  your s entence 

would be , you w i l l  not be permi t t e d  t o  wi thdraw your gui l t y  



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

0 2 : 3 9  1 0  

1 1  

1 2  

1 3  

1 4  

1 5  

1 6  

1 7  

1 8  

1 9  

0 2 : 4 0 2 0  

2 1  

2 2  

2 3  

2 4  

2 5  

Case 1 : 11-cr-10416-DJC Document 82 Filed 09/24/13 Page 14 of 28 
1 4  

p l ea because you ' re unhappy with the s e ntence that I u l t imat e l y  

impo s e ?  

THE DE FENDANT : Ye s ,  your Hono r .  

THE COURT : Mr . Chri s t o f f e r s o n ,  are  there s t a tutory 

v i ct ims h e r e ?  

MR . CHRI STO FFERSON : No , y o u r  Hono r . 

THE COURT : Do you unde r s t and that unde r the usual 

c i r cums tanc es , Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e , you or the government or  both 

part i e s  may have the r i ght t o  appeal  any s entence that I 

impo s e ?  

THE DEFENDANT : Ye s ,  ma ' am .  

THE COURT : Do you unde rstand that under the plea  

agreement , wh i ch I t h i n k  i s  s t i l l  in f r ont of  you , on page 4 ,  

s ec ti on 6 ,  you have given up o r  wa ived c e r t a i n  o f  your 

app e l l a t e  r i ght s ?  

THE DE FENDANT : Ye s ,  your Hono r .  

THE COURT : That i s ,  you ' ve g i ven up the r i ght t o  

cha l l enge your convic t i on o n  di rect app e a l  o r  in a c o l l a t e r a l  

cha l l enge a n d  you ' ve given up c e r t a i n  o f  your r i ghts  t o  appeal  

any s entence I impos e ?  

THE DE FENDANT : Yes ,  your Hono r . 

THE COURT : I do  now want t o  turn t o  certain r i ghts  

that  you gi ve up by not go ing t o  trial  and p l eading gui l t y  i n  

t h i s  c a s e . 

Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e , do you unde r s t and that you have the 
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r i ght t o  p l ead not gui l t y  �o any of the o ffenses charged 

against you and go t o  t r i a l ?  

THE DE FENDANT : Yes , your Hono r . 

1 5  

THE COURT : Do you und e r s t and that you have the ri ght 

to a t ri a l  b y  a j ury?  

THE DEFENDANT : Yes , your Hono r . 

THE COURT : Do you unde r s t and that a t  that t r i a l  you ' d  

be  presumed t o  b e  innocent and the gove rnment would have t o  

prove your gu i l t  beyond a r e a s onab l e  doub t ?  

T H E  DE FENDANT : Y e s ,  your Hono r . 

THE COURT : Do  you unde r s t and that a t  any t r i a l  you ' d  

have the ri ght t o  the a s s i s t ance o f  couns e l  for your defens e ?  

THE DE FENDANT : Yes , your Honor . 

THE COURT : Do you unde r s t and that you ' d  have the 

r i ght to see and hear the  witne s s e s  aga ins t you and have them 

c r o s s -exami ned in your defens e ?  

THE DE FENDANT : Yes , your Hono r . 

THE COURT : Do  you unders t and that you would have the 

r i ght , if you chose t o  exerci s e  i t ,  t o  t e s t i fy and t o  put on 

evidence i n  your own de fens e ?  

THE DEFENDANT : Yes ,  your Hono r . 

THE COURT : Do you und e r s t and that you ' d  have the 

ri ght t o  r e qu i re wi tne s s e s  to come t o  court t o  t e s t i fy in your 

de fens e ?  

THE DEFENDANT : Yes , your Hono r . 
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THE COURT : Do you und e r s t and that you ' d  have the 

r ight t o  re fu s e  t o  t e s t i fy and r e fu s e  t o  put on any evidence 

unle s s  you volunt a r i l y  e l ected t o  do s o ?  

THE DEFENDANT : Yes . 

1 6  

THE COURT : And i f  you d i d  - - do you unde r stand that 

i f  you chos e  not t o  t e s t i fy ,  not t o  put on any evidence and 

j ust  put the government t o  i t s  pro o f ,  thos e  facts  could not be 

u s e d  against you? 

THE DEFENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : Do you unde r s t and that by enter ing a 

gui l t y  p l e a  here today,  i f  I accept your p l e a , there wi l l  be  no 

t r i a l  and a l l  the r i ghts that I ' ve j us t  de s c r ibed to you that 

go with a t r i a l  you wi l l  have given up? 

THE DEFENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : I a s ke d  you a t  the beginning o f  my 

ques t i ons t o  you about whe ther o r  not you unde r s tood the 

charges aga ins t you in this c a s e . Le t me j us t  ment i o n  a g a i n ,  

you ' re charged i n  C ount O n e  w i t h  consp i racy t o  c ommi t 

s e curi t i e s  fraud , and in tha t count i t ' s  charged tha t ,  together 

wi th o the r s  known and unknown t o  the grand j ury , you conspired 

and a t t empted t o  knowingl y  execut e a s cheme o r  a r t i f i ce t o  

de fraud p e r s ons in conne ction w i t h  t h e  s e curi t i e s  o f  a n  i s suer 

with a class  of  sec ur i t i e s  r e g i s t ered unde r the S ecur i t i e s  Act 

and to obta i n  by means of mate r i a l l y  f a l s e  and f r audul ent 

p r e t ens e s ,  repre s entat i ons , and promi s e s  money and property in 
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connec ti on with the purcha s e  and s a l e  o f  s e cu r i t i e s  o f  an 

i s suer wi th a c l a s s  o f  s e cu r i t i e s  r e g i s t e re d ,  as I s a id . Do 

you und e r s t and tha t ?  

THE DE FENDANT : I need t o  ta l k  t o  S t e ven . 

( De fendant conferre d  w i t h  counse l . )  

1 7  

MR . FULLER : Your Hono r ,  i s  there any wa t e r  ava i l ab l e ?  

( Di s cu s s i on o f f  t h e  r e co rd . )  

proceed? 

MR . FULLE R : Could she  j us t  have a moment ? 

THE COURT : Sure . 

( Defendant conferred with counsel . )  

THE COURT : Couns e l ,  Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e ,  are  you ready t o  

T H E  DEFEN DAN T : Yes . Y e s , your Honor . 

THE COURT : I ' l l l e t  you swal l ow . 

Would you l i ke me t o  repeat my l a s t  que s t i on? 

THE DE FENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : I was a s king you about your unde r s t anding 

of Count One , which charges  you with consp i racy t o  commi t 

s e curi t i e s  fraud,  and I was a s king you whether o r  not you 

unders t o od that in o rd e r  for the government to prove this  count 

against you a t  t r i a l ,  t h e y  would have to s how tha t ,  a s  a l l e ged,  

you having -- exc use  me , you , t og ethe r w i th others known and 

unknown to the grand j ur y ,  consp i re d  and a t t empt ed to knowingly 

execute a s cheme o r  a r t i f i ce t o  de f raud p e r s ons i n  conne ction 

with the s e cu r i t i e s  o f  an issuer with a class  of  s ecuri t i e s  
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regi s t e red under the S e curit i e s  Act and t o  obt a in b y  means o f  

mat e r i a l l y  fa l s e  and fraudul ent pretens e s , repre s entat i ons , and 

promi s e s  mone y and prop e r t y  in conne ction with the purch a s e  and 

s a l e  o f  tho s e  s ecur i t i e s . 

Do you understand that that ' s  wha t the gove rnment 

would have t o  prove agains t you be yond a rea s onabl e  doub t ?  

T H E  DE FENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : As t o  C ount s Two through E l even and 

Thi r t e e n ,  a l l  o f  wh i ch charge you wi th w i re fraud in v i o l a t i on 

o f  T i t l e  1 8  United S t a t e s  Code 1 3 4 3 ,  i f  thi s c a s e  were t o  

proceed t o  t r i a l , t h e  government would have t o  prove , a s  

a l l eged , t h a t  you,  having dev i s ed and intending t o  devi s e  a 

s cheme o r  a r t i f i c e  t o  de fraud and t o  obt a i n  money and property 

by means of mat e r i a l l y  fal s e  and fraudu l ent pretens e s , 

r epres entat i ons , and promi s e s  for  the purpos e  o f  executing such 

s cheme and a r t i f i c e , t ransmi t t e d  and caused or caused to be 

t ransmit t e d  in i nt e rs t a t e  commerce c e r t a i n  w i r e  commun i c a t i ons  

i n  and out o f  bank accounts  a s  l i s te d  and a l l eged i n  the 

indic tment f o r  e a ch of those counts . Do you unde r s t and tha t ?  

THE DE FENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : And do you unde r s t and that e ach o f  the s e  

e l ements  woul d  have t o  be  proven by the gove rnment be yond a 

r e a s onab l e  doub t ?  

THE DE FENDANT : Y e s . 

THE COURT : I ' m now go i ng to a s k  Mr . Chr i s t o fferson t o  
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s t a t e  the factua l bas i s  for  the  p l e a ; that i s ,  wha t  the 

government exp ec ted t o  prove if this ca s e  had gone t o  t r i a l . 

1 9  

I want you , Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e , t o  l i s t e n  very carefu l l y ,  

because when he ' s  done , I ' m going t o  a s k you i f  you a g r e e  t o  

t h e  e s s en t i a l  e l ements o f  the  c r ime s charged . 

Mr . Chr i s t o fferson . 

MR . CHRI STO FFERSON : Thank you , your Hono r . 

I f  thi s c a s e  were t o  go t o  t r i a l ,  the gove rnment would 

e s t ab l i s h  the fol lowing facts  be yond a r e a sonab l e  doubt : Ke l l y  

B l a c k-Wh i t e  was i n  the bus ine s s  o f  a s s i s t i ng pub l i c l y  traded 

companies and f i nding s ource s o f  funding , a s  we l l  a s  promot ing 

penny s t o cks . She a l s o  s e rved on the b o a rd o f  d i rectors  o f  

S ymbo l l on Pharmaceut i ca l s , a pub l i c  c ompany in t h e  bus iness  o f  

deve l oping and mar k e t ing pharmaceut i ca l s . 

The evidence would s how that i n  o r  a9out Ma r ch 2 0 1 1 , 

Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e  l e a rned o f  a p o t ent i a l  fundi ng oppo rtunit y  for 

pub l i c  compani e s  i nvo lving an individua l who purpo rted t o  be a 

repres entat ive o f  a ma j or inves tment fund . Unb e knownst t o  

Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e , the fund r ep r e s entat ive was , in f a c t ,  a n  

unde rcover FB I agent , and t h e  fund i t s e l f  d i d  not e x i s t . 

Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e  s ub s e quentl y  l ea rned that the fund 

rep r e s entat ive was wi l l ing to inve s t  fund mone y  in compan i e s  in 

exchange for tho s e  c ompanies  e a c h  sending 5 0  percent o f  the 

money back to the fund representative , a nd l e a rned that the 

fund was unawar e  of the money k i cking back to the fund 
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rep r e s e nt a t i v e . 

2 0  

On June 1 3 ,  2 0 1 1 ,  Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e  met with the fund 

repres entat i ve he rs e l f  and the fund repr e s entat ive again 

exp l a ined the s cheme . She agreed with the fund rep r e s entat ive 

that she would r e f e r  executives of pub l i c l y  t raded compan i e s  

who woul d b e  wi l l ing t o  s e nd money b a c k  t o  t h e  fund 

rep r e s entative in exchange for funding by h i s  inve s tment fund . 

Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e  and the fund r epres entat ive a l s o  

agreed that s h e  would r e c e ive a po r t i o n  o f  the mone y  s ent back 

t o  him for  h e r  r e f e r r a l s . 

The evidence would show that Ms . B l a ck-Wh i t e  wa s 

informed o f  va r i ous mea s u r e s  that wou ld be taken t o  concea l  the 

s cheme , fo r i nstanc e ,  because of an inve s tment o f  the ent i r e  $ 5  

mi l l i on a t  once might a t t ract unwanted a t t ention from the fund , 

Ms . B l ack-Wh i t e  wa s t o l d  that the funding o f  the companie s  

woul d take  p l a ce inc r ement a l l y  i n  increas ing tranches o f  

funding . 

Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e  was a l s o  t o l d  and under s tood tha t a s  a 

further means o f  conce a l ing the s cheme , the payments b a c k  t o  

t h e  fund repre s e n t a t i ve would n o t  be paid t o  the fund 

r epres ent a t ive d i r e c t l y  but rathe r would be  p a i d  t o  sham 

nominee cons u l t i ng c omp a n i e s  that the rep r e s entat ive 

purpo rtedly contro l l e d . 

The evidence would show that in May and i n  June 

Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e  int roduced a t  l e a s t  four executives to the fund 
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repre s en t a t i v e ,  inc luding a n  executive with S ymb o l l o n ,  an 

execut i ve with the company known a s  MicroHoldings , Alb e r t  Reda , 

an executive o f  a company known a s  1 s t  Global Financ i a l ,  and 

execut ives o f  a company known as ComCam so that e a ch o f  them 

could enter the fund ing a r rangement and the s cheme a s  

d e s cr ibed . 

As a r e s u l t  o f  the s e  mee t i ngs , these individua l s  

a g r e e d  t o  pa r t i cipate on beha l f  o f  the i r  compani e s  i n  the 

s cheme . The s e  individuals  r e c e ived payments purpo rtedly made 

from the f i ct i t ious fund and , as d i s cus s ed ,  then made payment s 

b a c k  t o  the sham consu l t ing companie s  that the representat ive 

purportedly contr o l l ed . 

In e a ch ca s e ,  thes e  k i c ked-ba c k  payments amounted t o  

5 0  percent o f  t h e  money that t h e  fund h a d  paid t o  the 

c ompanie s . 

Spe c i f i c a l l y ,  a s  s e t  forth i n  Count s Two through 

E ight , E l even and Thirteen o f  the sup e r s eding i ndi ctment , 

Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e  caused a s e r i e s  o f  w i r e s  cons t i tut ing such 

payments  to and from the compani e s . The da t e s , the amount s ,  

and the bank a ccounts involved i n  e a ch o f  the s e  w i r e s  a r e  s e t  

f o rth i n  t h e  sup e rsedi ng indictment . 

I f  your Honor would p r e f e r  that f o r  the record I 

r e c i t e  e ach o f  them as s e t  forth , I ' m happy t o  do that o r  e l s e  

we can d o  i t  b y  re fe rence t o  the indictment . 

THE COURT : I think r e f erence t o  the i ndi ctment i s  
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fi ne . 

Mr . Ful l e r ,  do you agre e ?  

MR . FULLE R : Yes . 

2 2  

MR . CHRI S TO FFERS ON : Your Hono r ,  a l s o  a s  a r e s u l t  o f  

h e r  i nt roduct i o n  o f  t h e s e  execut ives , Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e  received 

a portion of the k i c kbacks that were given t o  the fund 

repres entat ive . The s e  k i c kb a c ks were s ent o r  the money from 

these ki c kbacks were s e nt t o  Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e  by i nt e r s t a t e  wire 

trans fer  from a bank account purpo rtedly bel onging t o  one o f  

the fund repres entat ive ' s  sham consul t i n g  compani es . 

Spe c i f i c a l l y  a s  s et forth i n  Count s Nine and Ten o f  

the sup e r s eding indictment , Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e  caused wires  

cons t i tuting such payments  t o  be s ent  t o  an account in the name 

o f  Premi e r  Funding and Fina nc i a l  Consul t i ng , whi ch was an 

account that she contro l l e d . 

I f  the gove rnment ' s  c a s e  we re t o  proceed t o  t r i a l ,  the 

gove rnment ' s  evidence would include , among other things , 

documentary evidenc e ,  including bank records evidencing the 

funding and ki c kb a c ks and the bogus documents created to 

concea l  the t ra ns a c t i ons by the executives that Ms . B l ac k-White  

re f e r r e d ;  t e s t imony of  witne s s e s  who de a l t  with Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e  

w i t h  regard t o  this k i c kb a c k  a rrangement and her re ferral  o f  

executives t o  t h e  fund repre s e n t a t ive ; recordings o f  t e l ephone 

c a l l s  be tween Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e  and other witne s s e s  who d e a l t  

wi th her w i t h  r e g a r d  t o  t h e  a r rangement and her r e f e r ra l  o f  
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execut i ve s  t o  the fund repre s enta tive ; and f i na l l y, video t aped 

evidence o f  the mee t ing between Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e  and the fund 

representat ive . 

THE COURT : Ms . B l ack-Wh i t e , having heard a summa ry o f  

what the government int ended t o  prove and o ff e r  a t  t r i a l , do 

you agree t o  the factual summary a s  it bears on the e s s en t i a l  

e l ements  o f  t h e  charges ?  

THE DE FENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : Ms . B l ack-White , are  you p l e ading gu i l t y  

today t o  the cha rges i n  the indictment against you be caus e 

you ' re ,  in fact , gui l t y  o f  tho s e  charge s ?  

THE DE FENDANT : Yes . 

THE COURT : Mr . Chr i s t o f f e r s o n ,  i s  there any r e a s on 

why the Court should not t a ke the change o f  p l e a  a t  this p o i n t ?  

p l e a . 

MR . CHR I STOFFERSON : N o . Thank you , your Honor . 

THE COURT : Mr . Ful l e r ,  s ame que s t i o n ?  

MR . FULLE R : N o ,  your Hono r . 

THE COURT : Ms . Hourihan , you can t a ke the change o f  

THE CLERK : Ms . B l a c k-White , i f  you can p l e a s e  s t a nd . 

Ms . B l a c k-Whi t e , you have been named i n  1 2  count s i n  a 

sup e r s eding indictment charging you i n  Count One with 

conspi racy t o  c ommi t s ecu r i t i e s  fraud i n  v i o l a t i on of T i t l e  1 8 ,  

Uni t e d  S t a t e s  Code , S e c t i on 1 3 4 9 ;  and i n  Count s Two through 

E l even and Thi rteen of the sup e rs eding indi ctment charging you 
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with w i re fraud in v i o l a t i on o f  T i t l e  1 8 ,  United S t a t e s  Code , 

S e c t i on 1 3 4 3 . How do you now pl ead t o  Count s One through 

E l even and Thi rteen of the supers eding indictment , gu i l t y  o r  

not gui l t y ?  

T H E  DEFENDANT : Gui l t y . 

THE COURT : You may be  s e a t ed . 

2 4  

Ms . B l a c k-Whi t e , based o n  the c o l loquy and the p r o f f e r  

o f  facts t h a t  t h e  government p l anned t o  o f fe r ,  I f ind t h a t  you 

are ful l y compet ent and capab l e  of e n t e r ing an informed p l e a ,  

that you ' re awa r e  o f  t h e  nature o f  t h e  charges  against you and 

the consequences o f  your p l e a ,  and that the gui l t y  p l e a  i s  a 

knowing and voluntary p l e a  supported by an independent bas i s  in 

fac t  cont a i ning each o f  the e s s en t i a l  e l ements o f  the o f fenses 

charged in the super seding indi ctment . I ,  the re fore , accept 

your pl ea,  and you ' re adj udged gui l t y  of  tho s e  o f fens e s . 

I ' m going t o  a s k  you and your c ouns e l ,  Mr . Ful l e r ,  t o  

re turn t o  couns e l  t ab l e . 

o r i gina l 

Thank you . 

MR . FULLE R : Your Hono r ,  wou ld you l i ke the 

THE COURT : Ye s ,  i f  you can hand that up t o  

Ms . Hourihan . 

MR . FULLE R : May I approach ?  

THE COURT : Thank you . 

MR . FULLE R : Your Hono r ,  the re ' s  a l s o  a l e t t e r  from 
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Proba t i on that w e  we r e  j us t  handed , and there ' s  a n  error  i n  i t . 

THE COURT : O ka y . I ' l l t a ke that up at the end . 

Couns e l ,  does thi s  need to be s e a l ed o n  the record , 

the p l e a  agreemen t ?  

MR . CHR I STOFFE RSON : I think that ' s  probably 

approp r i at e ,  your Hono r . 

s e a l ed . 

THE COURT : Okay . 

MR . FULLE R : What ' s  the que s t ion?  

MR . CHR I STO FFERSON : I f  the p l e a  agreement ought t o  be  

THE COURT : O ka y . It  sha l l  be , couns e l . 

MR . CHR I STOFFE RSON : Thank you , your Honor . 

THE COURT : I ' l l t a ke tha t a s  an o r a l  mot i on t o  s e a l . 

MR . CHR I STOFFERSON : Thank you, your Hono r . 

THE COURT : I t ' s  a l l owed ,  couns e l . 

Ms . B l a c k-Wh i t e ,  a s  I ment ioned before , wha t  w i l l  

happen n o w  i s  t h e  Probat i on O f f i ce w i l l  prepare a pres entence 

report whi c h wi l l  a s s i s t  me in determining wha t  the app rop r i a t e  

s entence i s  i n  thi s  ca s e . You ' l l be a s ked t o  give informa t i on 

for that repo rt , a nd Mr . Ful l e r  ma y be pres ent f o r  your 

interview,  i f  you w i s h . I t ' s  very import ant that the 

pres entence report be  accurate in a l l  respects . I t  w i l l  no t 

onl y a f fec t  wha t  s entence you r e c e i ve , but i t  may a l s o  a f fect  

wha t  happens t o  you a f t e r  you ' re s entenced,  s o  even minor 

mi s t a ke s  should be corrected . 
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You ' l l have a chance t o  review the report , a s  w i l l  

your couns e l ,  a n d  f i l e  a n y  obj e c t i ons t o  i t  be fore I s e e  you 

for s entencing . 

2 6  

Both you and your couns e l  wi l l  have the opportun i t y  t o  

addre s s  m e  at t h e  t ime o f  your s entenc ing . 

I ' l l r e f e r  you to Proba t i on t o  s tart  the pres entence 

inve s t i gat i on . 

Ms . Houriha n ,  a date for s entencing? 

THE CLERK : Decembe r  4 th a t  2 : 0 0 p . m .  

THE COURT : Couns e l ?  

MR . FULLE R : Your Hono r ,  because o f  s ome s chedul i ng 

i s sue s ,  we were l o o king t o  move i t  into January,  a ft e r  January 

2 4 th .  

THE COURT : No obj e c t i o n ,  couns e l ?  

MR . CHR I STOFFERSON : N o  ob j ec t i on , your Hono r . 

THE CLERK : Afte r  January 2 4 th ?  

MR . FULLE R : Y e s . 

THE CLERK : Janu a r y  2 9 th a t  2 : 0 0 .  

MR . FULLE R : Thank you , your Hono r . 

MR . CHRI S TOFFERSON : Thank you , your Honor . 

T HE COURT : Okay . 

Couns e l ,  Mr . Ful l e r ,  I think you were re f e r r ing to 

what was handed to us from P r e t r i a l  S e rv i c e s  dated S eptembe r  

1 2 ,  2 0 1 3  j u st  giving m e  an upda t e  on compl i ance w i t h  

condi t i ons . 
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Let me a s k ,  Mr . Chri s t o f f e rs o n ,  I ' m a s s uming 

cond i t ions w i l l  con t i nue , is that the government ' s  po s i t ion? 

MR . CHRI STOFFERSON : Ye s ,  your Hono r . 

THE COURT : Was  there s ome thing --

2 7  

MR . FULLER :  Your Hono r ,  there ' s  j us t  an e r r o r  i n  i t em 

numbe r  6 .  Judge S o ro k i n  a l l owed t rave l  within the con t i guous 

4 8  s t a t e s . 

THE COURT : O ka y . 

MR . FULLE R : I t ' s  not l imi t ed to court ln  

M a s s a chus e t t s  and D i s t r i ct o f  A r i z ona . 

THE COURT : And that ' s  a l ready been imposed or --

MR . FULLE R : Correct . I think that was origina l l y  

what was s tated in the order i n  Ari z ona when s h e  was a r r e s t e d ,  

b u t  when we did the appearance h e r e , for a l l  the de f endants in 

the cas e ,  i t  was within the 48  s t a t e s . 

THE COURT : O ka y . 

PROBAT ION O F F I CE R : He  i s  correct , your Honor . I 

apo l o g i z e  fo r  tha t , and for  be ing l a t e . 

THE COURT : W i th that c l a r i f i c a t i o n ,  couns e l , I a s sume 

you ' re fine with the o r i gi n a l  cond i t ions r e f l e ct ed now in this  

l e t t e r  with your revi s i on t o  numb e r  6 ?  

MR . FULLE R : Thank you , your Honor . 

THE COURT : S o  those  condit i ons wi l l  s ta y  in place , 

and I ' l l s e e  you fo r  s entencing . 

Anything e l s e  be fore we r e ce s s ?  
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MR . CHRI STO FFERSON : No . Thank you , your Hono r . 

THE COURT : Mr . Ful l e r ?  

MR . FULLE R : No . Thank you , your Honor . 

THE COURT : Thank you . 

Thank you . 

( Court adj ourned a t  3 : 0 0 p . m . ) 
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